

Temi di Discussione

(Working Papers)

An evaluation of the policies on repayment of government's trade debt in Italy

by Leandro D'Aurizio and Domenico Depalo







Temi di discussione

(Working papers)

An evaluation of the policies on repayment of government's trade debt in Italy

by Leandro D'Aurizio and Domenico Depalo

Number 1061 - April 2016

The purpose of the Temi di discussione series is to promote the circulation of working papers prepared within the Bank of Italy or presented in Bank seminars by outside economists with the aim of stimulating comments and suggestions.

The views expressed in the articles are those of the authors and do not involve the responsibility of the Bank.

Editorial Board: Pietro Tommasino, Piergiorgio Alessandri, Valentina Aprigliano, Nicola Branzoli, Ines Buono, Lorenzo Burlon, Francesco Caprioli, Marco Casiraghi, Giuseppe Ilardi, Francesco Manaresi, Elisabetta Olivieri, Lucia Paola Maria Rizzica, Laura Sigalotti, Massimiliano Stacchini. *Editorial Assistants:* Roberto Marano, Nicoletta Olivanti.

ISSN 1594-7939 (print) ISSN 2281-3950 (online)

Printed by the Printing and Publishing Division of the Bank of Italy

AN EVALUATION OF THE POLICIES ON REPAYMENT OF GOVERNMENT'S TRADE DEBT IN ITALY

by Leandro D'Aurizio* and Domenico Depalo*

Abstract

Since 2012 the Italian Government has taken several steps to repay its commercial debts. Using a composite dataset, we evaluate the effects of these policies on the financial performance of a representative sample of Italian firms. We distinguish between the firms that were beneficiaries of these repayments, those that were not repaid, though they had a legitimate claim, and those that had no commercial ties with the general government. We find that receiving money had a significant positive impact on firms' financial position.

JEL Classification: D04, H69, L88.

Keywords: Trade debt, Difference-In-Differences, Policy evaluation.

Contents

1. Introduction	5
1.1 The trade debts of the Italian General Government	5
1.2 The aim of the paper	6
2. The existing legislation	7
3. The estimation strategy	10
4. Data sources	12
4.1 The business survey data	12
4.2 The administrative data	13
4.3 The integrated archive	14
5. Descriptive statistics	14
5.1 The evidence from survey data	14
5.2 The evidence from the Central Credit Register data	15
6. Results	16
6.1 The modeling approach	16
6.2 The results for the financial indicators	17
7. Conclusions	22
References	23
Tables and figures	25
Appendices	37

^{*} Bank of Italy, Economic Research and International Relations.

1 Introduction¹

1.1 The trade debts of the Italian General Government

There is no official estimate of the total amount of trade debt of the General Government (GG) in Italy. According to estimates released by the Bank of Italy in its Annual Report, it was about 4.8% of GDP in 2013, down from the peak of about 6% in 2012.² Based on the data released for the Excessive Deficit Procedure (EDP) notification, Italian GG's trade debt is the largest in the Euro Area both in absolute terms and as a share of GDP: relative to GDP, the second largest share is recorded in Portugal (2.2%), followed by Finland, France (both at 2.1%) and Germany (1%). Moreover, according to a survey conducted by Intrum Justitia, the average payment delay (in addition to contractual agreements) of the Italian Government is 90 days, compared to 4 days in Finland, 10 in Germany, 19 in France, about 70 in Portugal; in Greece is recorded the largest delay, well above 100 days.

There are many reasons for such trade debt accumulation, mainly occurring at local-government levels. Many municipalities faced severe financial constraints, mainly due to the Internal Stability Pact they had to comply with. This pact imposed severe limits to the timely reimbursement of local Governments creditors (Chiades and Mengotto, 2013). In addition, at all government levels, until 2012 an implicit incentive for not paying on time suppliers was that trade debts were outside the Maastricht debt's definition and had consequently very low priority. Only in July 2012 Eurostat slightly changed the rules so that credits released without recourse to financial intermediaries became part of the debt definition for the EDP notification.

On the side of the firms, there was a growing concern that GG's repayment delays could worsen their economic prospects. This worry was aired by Confindustria (the main organization representing Italian manufacturing and services companies) in January 2012 with the launch of a program called "Progetto Confindustria". It asked for the payment of at least 60 billion of GG's trade debt, under the rationale that it would have made liquidity conditions less binding and investment more appealing for the firms having commercial relations with the GG. A further second-order effect should have benefited the firms without trade relations with the GG, that dealt with GG's suppliers.

The Italian government devoted an increasing attention to the issue. Since the end of 2011, in order to alleviate financial problems of the firms and contribute to restore economic growth, the Parliament approved several laws to speed up the payment of Government's outlays and relax the liquidity conditions for the firms.

We thank Luigi Cannari, Giovanni D'Alessio, Tullio Jappelli, Francesco Manaresi, Sandro Momigliano, Enrico Rettore, Paolo Finaldi Russo, Paolo Sestito, Emilio Vadalà and the participants to the ICEEE conference held in Salerno in January 2015 for their useful suggestions. All the routines and results are be available at the webpage: <u>http://sites.google.com/site/domdepalo/</u>. The views expressed in this paper are those of the authors and do not imply any responsibility of their institutions.

 $^{^{2}}$ According to the notification valid for the Excessive Deficit Procedure - supervised by Eurostat - the trade debt not included in the Maastricht debt and related only to current account expenditure was 3.3% of GDP in 2013, from 3.9% in 2012. The references to this report and to all the others mentioned later are collected in Appendix 1.

In 2012 several laws provided money for the repayment of existing debt and simplified the bureaucratic procedures of payments. Indeed, in the Italian legislation, the GG can pay a bill only under strict formal conditions and, as a general rule, a credit can circulate in the financial market only if the debtor issues a "certification" to recognize its debt. Whilst in the previous years the release of the certification was a formal (but heterogeneous) procedure, in 2012 a decree law (Ministerial Decree, 22-05-2012) standardized and simplified the process.

However, standardizing the certification process was not enough to reduce the outstanding debt. Therefore, some laws enacted in 2013 provided resources (25 billion available in 2013 and 16 billion in 2014) to public bodies for the payment of outstanding commercial debts overdue at the end of 2012. The policy maker had the double aim of repaying existing commercial debts and adopting a new approach based on timely debt repayments, that could foster a climate of mutual trust between GG and its suppliers.³

According to Government's estimates, the repayment policy of 2013 was expected to increase the GDP by 0.2% in 2013, 0.7% in 2014 and 0.3% in 2015. The estimates by the Bank of Italy and Confindustria were more cautious, but nonetheless projected a GDP growth of 0.5-0.7% in two years and 1% in three years, respectively. The projections strongly depended on the speed of reimbursements and on firms' utilization of the repayments. In particular, the effect on GDP growth would have increased with the share of repayment used for new investment.

1.2 The aim of the paper

Understanding whether these policies relaxed the financial conditions for the firms having commercial relations with GG is crucial to shed light on the performance of the whole Italian economy, the third largest in the Euro Area. We therefore evaluate the impact of the reimbursements on the Italian companies, by using a yearly survey conducted by the Bank of Italy on a representative sample of Italian firms with at least 20 employees, merged with financial information provided by banks to the Bank of Italy in its role of authority in charge of bank supervision. With the available data, we can measure the effects on firms' performances until the end of 2013.

Because the primary aim of the policies was to provide firms with funds to relax their liquidity constraints, we look at their effects on some financial variables.

We find that receiving money had a significant positive impact on firms' financial position, reducing their needs to assign credits to financial intermediaries and the probability of default on part (or all) of their debts. To some extent, also firms not receiving money might have benefited from the policies, through accessing the factoring market to sell their trade credits, without increases of the interest rate charged for the service.

We provide detailed evidence that the timing and the structure of the policies examined rule out any bias in our results caused, for example, by sample selection: indeed, the policies were completely unexpected and the target

³ In addition to these measures for existing debt, a European Directive imposed strict rules for the payment of the invoices (30 days, apart from few exceptions, basically related to health provisions, for which the period was extended to 60 days). Italy was the first country to adopt the Directive (D.LGS. 192, Nov. 2012) and made it effective since the beginning of 2013.

credits were due much time before policies were introduced.

This paper is organized as follows: Section 2 provides some details on the GG's trade debt legislation. Section 3 illustrates the modeling techniques we applied to estimate the policy effects. The data and some descriptive statistics are presented in Section 4 and Section 5, respectively. Section 6 shows the results. Section 7 provides some conclusive remarks.

2 The existing legislation

As in other countries, in the Italian legislation a payment from the GG must be legally authorized. Furthermore, to freely circulate in the financial market, GG's commercial debts in general require a formal "certification", with which the debtor recognizes the existence of the debt, its exact amount and that it can be claimed by the creditor. Certification is fundamental for debtors and creditors alike, because it gives the possibility of postponing the payment to the former and the access to credit lines from banks to the latter.

At the same time, because the GG always repays its debts, even if late, selling goods and services to GG was traditionally regarded as an opportunity of profits for firms and financial intermediaries. This view changed during the last economic crisis, since liquidity constraints have become increasingly more severe for firms.

For public bodies, having commercial debt was more convenient than borrowing money to pay their suppliers in cash because the former was out of the debt as defined in the EDP notification (it was only a memorandum item). This advantage lasted until 2012, when rules slightly changed and debt released without recourse to intermediaries became part of the debt definition according to the Maastricht treaty. Indeed, release to the market can be done either on a "without- recourse" or "with-recourse" basis. In the first case, the factor assumes the default risk, because it does not have recourse against the firm in case of default and accordingly charges higher interest rates for the service. In the second case, the factor has a claim against the seller for payment deficiency.

According to the Bank of Italy, in December 2013 8 billion were released without recourse to financial intermediaries (instead of 10.5 at the end of 2012; Bank of Italy, 2014).

For a long time, certification was released on the basis of heterogeneous documentation requirements, often left at debtors' discretion, in particular for the case of local authorities. This discretionary power was increasingly exercised as the constraints of the Stability and Growth Pact became more binding during the crisis. Aware of the slow pace of payments caused by this discretionary power, the Government made several steps to make it easier for firms to be paid: some steps aimed at facilitating debt certification by the debtor, others provided directly creditors with cash. In what follows, we describe the most relevant policies in chronological order, starting from 2011.

The Stability Law for 2012, issued at the end of 2011, made it compulsory for local-government entities to certify credits within 60 days, if requested by the creditor, and favored factoring towards the State-owned SACE company. The law turned out not to be effective: non-compliant public entities were not sanctioned, thus the number

of certifications did not increase as an effect of the law.

A further attempt to relax the tight constraints imposed to GG's creditors came few weeks later in January 2012, with the Decree Law 1/2012 (converted into Law 27/2012). The decree allocated 5.7 billion euro to regulate part of the Ministries' trade debts either in cash or by assignment of government securities (if requested by the creditor). According to official figures, less than 3 billion were actually disbursed (only 15 million in the form of government securities). The difficulties faced by firms to obtain the credit certification were among the major reasons for the failure of the policy.

Therefore, four different measures were adopted in May 2012 to make it possible to obtain the certification for firms: two of them standardized the certification process using an Internet-based procedure. The standardized certification also asked the debtor to define a deadline for debt repayment within the next 12 months, but forbade the creditor to sue the debtor in the meantime. The third measure allowed firms to compensate between trade credits and fiscal debts, while the last one made banks advances easier by using a special fund (Fondo di garanzia per le piccole e medie imprese). These four measures (which we label collectively as "standardization policy" from now on) were an important step forward with respect to the existing practices, but, as it could be foreseen since their adoption, several exceptions could make the certification difficult to obtain.⁴

As soon as the measures above were approved, another Government's move to improve the economic agents' expectations and promote trust in commercial relations towards the GG was the commitment to approve the Late Payment Directive of the European Union (Directive 2011/7/UE) by the end of that year. This policy was the only one announced by the Government, whereas the others were unexpected (this is quite important for the rest of the paper). On January 1st, the new rules of the Directive came into force: according to it, the deadline for trade debt payment is 30 days, with few exceptions (basically confined to the Health System, where it is extended to 60 days).

Because of the inability to reduce the stock of the outstanding commercial debt with the previous measures, in 2013 the Government adopted a completely different approach: on the one hand the bureaucracy was further simplified (e.g., differently from the standardization policy, no ISP-related exceptions were allowed to local bodies), on the other hand substantially more funds were injected into the economy (we label this policy as

⁴ The most relevant hurdle related to public finance was the Internal Stability Pact (ISP), which was arguably one of the factors responsible for the trade debt accumulated by local governments. To respect the European fiscal rules, the standardization policy allowed indebted public bodies to refuse to release the standard certification whenever it hampered the respect of the ISP. In this case, the certification could be released without a deadline, with serious difficulties for firms to assign their credits to financial institutions. Likewise, the National Health System was not obliged to release the certification if the repayment of its trade debt was not in line with their public finance projections. Other limitations were more technical. Moreover, the lack of credible sanctions for non-compliant public entities made it even more difficult for firms to have their credits certified.

"repayment policy" from now on). More specifically, in April 2013 the Government approved a new bill for the payment of trade debts due at the end of December 2012, without any reference to the certification release. It is worth emphasizing that the eligibility criteria had to be met much earlier than the law was enforced (i.e., firms could not self-select to be treated by the policy). The total funds amounted to 40 billion, later expanded to 47, of which about 25 in 2013 and 16 in 2014 for trade debt and 6.5 for fiscal reimbursement.

Two points of this policy are relevant. The first is the provision to public entities of a strict timetable of deadlines that could induce fines for non-compliant public managers.⁵ A second important aspect is the payment-priority rules: the first debts to be paid were those not released without recourse, according to debt seniority (following the principle of first-in-first-out, FIFO).⁶

Many obstacles that hampered the previous reforms were removed by the following features of the new law: i) the largest-than-ever amount of money allocated, ii) the flexibility in the allocation of funds within the GG subsectors, iii) the easiness of the certification procedure, iv) the strict FIFO-like payment rule, v) the absence of exceptions related to public-finance sustainability, vi) non-compliant behaviors by public managers sanctioned by fines.

On the other side, the most relevant drawback was that, although large in absolute terms, the funds allocated were insufficient to repay the total overdue amount, with the consequence that some firms eligible to obtain money eventually did not get it.⁷

These features determine that firms were eligible to benefit from reimbursement policies according to tightly defined criteria that were verified 4 months before the policy took place: it makes sure that the treatment is exogenous.

For the future, the prevention of GG expenditure arrears may be obtained by drafting an expenditure budget based on a correct medium-term fiscal framework, that encompasses all the main sources of risk. More specifically, a successful plan must take into account all the levels of government and any source of external constraints, such as supranational agreements limiting public spending (Flynn and Pessoa, 2014). More specific to the Italian case, D'Aurizio *et al.* (2015) argue that significant improvements could be obtained by granting funds to local governments under the strictly conditionality that they are used one-to-one for reducing the outstanding stock of trade debts, in order to discourage their utilization for the reimbursement of current or new ones.

We add for completeness that further funds were allocated in 2014, but, as discussed in Section 4, our data do

⁵ For instance, one of them regarded the registration on the Internet platform for the release of the certification, introduced in 2012, or the publication on a website of the list of the existing debts.

⁶ The creditors' list was to be made public by the debtor and was also valid as debt certification; on the other hand, firms could ask for a list integration after its completion.

⁷ Further obstacles were the many regulations needed for the law to be completely effective and the fact that many public managers preferred not to use the funds, since they perceived the rules as too binding.

not cover this period.⁸ Below we summarize the timeline (in **boldface** the policies of interest for our paper).

2012	01/2012	05/2012	07/2012	10/2012	04/2013	07/2013	2014
Certification compulsory	Debts for Ministries	Standardi- zation policy	Maastricht debt definition	Implementati on of standardiza- tion	Repayment policy	Implementa- tion of Repayment	Further measures not examined in the paper

3 The estimation strategy

The reforms described in Section 2 allow a tight evaluation of the policies occurred since 2012. In this section we first briefly review how to identify and then how to estimate their causal effect.

Let us start with the simplest possible setup, with two groups of firms and two periods, before and after the policy. Of course, only the firms with commercial relations with the GG were potential targets of the policies (treated), whereas the other firms are defined as control group. Throughout the paper, we take the perspective of the policy introduced in 2013. Therefore, within the treated group, the firms that received money should be distinguished from those that did not receive it, although they had a legitimate right. This is a direct consequence of the FIFO approach. Our aim is to contrast the evolution of the outcome of the treated firms against that of the control firms. To do this, we use the well-known Difference-In-Differences (DID) technique. It evaluates the within-groups outcome difference, after and before the policy (the "-In-Difference" part of the technique) and takes the difference between these components (the first "Difference-" part) as the causal effect of the policy (see Imbens and Wooldridge, 2009 for a survey of recent treatment-evaluation literature). The rationale for the approach is that, if the model is correctly specified and the evolution of the outcome would have been equal across the two groups in the absence of the policy (the so-called common trend assumption), the difference of the outcome between the two groups after the policy should be different only because of the policy.

More formally, we define $T \in \{0, 1\}$ and $G \in \{C, D\}$ as respectively the time and group indicators and $y_{i,T}$ as the outcome of interest, for a random sample composed of i = 1, ..., N individuals. The time indicator T=0 refers to pre-policy periods, whereas T=1 indicates those post-policy. The group indicator G=C indicates the control group and G=D refers to the treated units. Under common trend assumption, if the error term is independent from the variables of interest, i.e. $E \perp G$ (usually referred to as mean independence treatment, implying also the ignorability of treatment), the saturated model without covariates for a generic member of any of groups can be written as:

$$y = \beta_{c0} + \beta T + \gamma G + \tau_{DID} T G + E , \qquad (1)$$

⁸ The Government passed a bill providing for (a) monthly monitoring of payment times, partly through the use of e-invoicing; (b) the allocation of about 9 billion to speed up the payment of arrears (supplementing the previous measures); and (c) provisions to facilitate the transfer of claims to the banking system. As discussed in Section 4, our data do not cover this period.

where γ captures possible differences between the two groups prior to the policy change, β captures aggregate factors that would have caused changes in the outcome even though the policy would have not been implemented and $\tau_{DID} = E[(y_{D,1} - y_{D,0})] - E[(y_{C,1} - y_{C,0})]$ identifies the treatment effect and can be estimated by OLS.

Possible extensions are worth mentioning for later purposes: i) the exploitation of the panel structure of the data, ii) the introduction of covariates, iii) the extension to more periods and/or more treatments.

With respect to the panel structure, a fixed-effect estimator would be equivalent to estimating eq. 1. A possible solution would then be assuming the unconfoundedness, given lagged outcomes, but in this case there might be a problem if lagged outcomes and error terms are correlated (see Imbens and Wooldridge, 2009). Nonetheless, we will explore this alternative too, as a check of our results in Section 6.

Somewhat more problematic is the extension to covariates, because a potential pitfall arises when characteristics of treatment and control groups change as a consequence of treatment. To avoid biased estimates of the causal parameter associated with this risk, one should contrast the two groups over dimensions that are unaffected by the treatment (see Angrist and Pischke, 2008): suggested covariates should thus be out of the decision set of the firms, without feedback from treatment or fixed at the period preceding the policy. In line with this suggestion, our covariates are referred to 2011 to prevent them from being affected by the treatment.

Finally, it is interesting to generalize the approach to 2 periods and 3 groups (two of which are treated), consistently with the policies described in Section 2. If we define the two treated groups as G_1 and G_2 , the following regression (again, for a generic member of any of groups)

$$y = \beta T + \gamma_1 G_1 + \gamma_2 G_2 + \tau_{1,DID} T G_1 + \tau_{2,DID} T G_2 + E$$
(2)

identifies $\tau_{1,DID}$ and $\tau_{2,DID}$ as the causal parameters of the policy with the very same meaning as in eq. 1, under the main assumptions of the common trend and exogeneity (see Appendix 2 for the derivation).

All the above identification results are based on the strong assumption of common trend and ignorability of the treatment. As for the former, it may be the case that some of the covariates are themselves subject to a trend, which might be different between treated and controls, making the treatment effect heterogeneous: the proposed solutions involve the interaction between τ_{DID} and covariates that induce heterogeneity in the policy effect (Gibbons *et al.*, 2014) or weights to make the distribution of the covariates between treated and control equal (Abadie, 2005).

The common trend hypothesis may be violated also because the outcomes derive from individual-specific trends, independent of the policy and of the covariates. In these cases, if this individual-specific trend is purged, the estimation procedure works perfectly well: everything is similar, apart from the fact that data first differencing will eliminate a linear individual specific trend (the approach is called Difference-In-Differences-In-Differences, DIDID; see Wooldridge, 2001). Following the existing literature, the evidence that we produce in favor of the common trend assumption is the graph of characteristics across time by groups and a test for a significant difference in their rate of growth before the policy is introduced.

We carried out robustness check of our results against these possible drawbacks. They produced estimates closely aligned with those illustrated in the paper (not shown for brevity, but available on our website), unless specified.

The ignorability is not an issue in this analysis because the eligibility criteria were tightly specified by the law and the requisites were those existing 4 months before the policy took place (the treatment status is pre-determined with respect to the outcome, as discussed in Section 2).

4 Data sources

In this paper we use firm-level information from two Bank of Italy's yearly surveys, matched with credit-line information (compulsorily provided by banks) from administrative datasets. In this way, we can evaluate the policies over a wide range of indicators. Subsection 4.1 describes the surveys, Subsection 4.2 the administrative data.

4.1 The business survey data

The main data sources that we use for the firms are the Bank of Italy's yearly survey on Industrial and Service firms (Bank of Italy 2013b, Invind in what follows), and the Business Outlook Survey (Bank of Italy, 2013a; Sondtel from now on).

The main purpose of Invind is evaluating the overall trends of investment, revenues and employment for firms with 20 employees and over, representing a substantial share of the totals of the whole population of Italian firms (over 70% for non-construction industry, slightly less than 60% for non-financial private services). Sondtel is instead a precious instrument for the assessment of the cyclical position of the Italian enterprises. Both datasets contain a wide set of indicators that help model the response to the policies.

Since 2002, both surveys have been carried out on the same representative sample of firms. The target population is represented by firms belonging to the non-construction industry (33,057 firms) and to the non- financial private sectors (33,449 firms). The sample is composed on average by 4,000-4,100 units for every edition. A specific short questionnaire covers construction firms with 20 employees and over since 2006. In this paper we do not analyze them, because key information is somewhat different from that collected in the main survey.

The firms participating in a given edition are always re-contacted in the following one. Firms leave the sample if they bankrupt or refuse definitively to participate in the survey. They leave the sample temporarily if they do not belong to the target population at the moment of the interview or they have temporary difficulties to provide the data requested.⁹ The sample representativeness is preserved by replacing firms leaving the sample with others that are similar to them in terms of size, type of activity and headquarters' location.

⁹ The most frequent reason for firms no longer belonging to the target population is that their size drops below the 20-employee threshold.

A set of weights make the sample representative of the target population.

The data for the Invind edition referring to the year t are collected between January and April of the following year t+1. The questionnaire is composed by a fixed and a variable part. The fixed part contains general information on firm structure, as well as annual data on investment, employment, revenues, operating result, capacity utilization and financing. The variable parts cover different topics each year, which are the object of detailed cyclical or structural analyses.

The data for the edition of Sondtel referring to the year t are collected between September and October of the same year. The survey questionnaire is considerably shorter than that of Invind. It aims at collecting categorical ordered information about the perspective trends of employment, investment, revenues and orders. It also contains short parts, variable according to the analytical needs suggested by the economic outlook.

In the last few years, a growing attention has been paid to firms' trade credits. Indeed, on the one hand the issue has become more relevant whilst, on the other hand, no official data has been available regarding the topic. Therefore, an extensive section of the Invind questionnaires covers firms' trade credits, with a focus on those towards the GG. Firms are asked to provide the end-of-year amount of total trade credit receivables outstanding and, specifically, the amount due from the GG. They also indicate some non-monetary characteristics of trade credit, such as contract terms, share collected with deferment and average length of the delay.

Furthermore, the 2013 edition of the Sondtel (Bank of Italy, 2013a) asked firms eligible for repayment according to the rules introduced in 2013 (see Section 2), whether they had been repaid in the first nine months of the year.

4.2 The administrative data

We extracted additional information on firms from the archives of bank-level data collected for supervisory purposes. Data regarding firm-bank relations come from the Central Credit Register (CCR) database, managed by the Bank of Italy. It is an administrative database, which records each month detailed financial information on credit lines provided by Italian banks to firms and individuals. The reference population for the information is made of all the credit lines exceeding the minimum threshold of 30,000 euro. The threshold is determined by summing all the credit lines granted by a bank, grouped into three main categories:

- 1. short-term lines of credit;
- 2. collateralized credit lines, mortgages, etc.;
- 3. advances, etc.

Data are also available on:

 credit quality, i.e. whether each credit line granted is past due, restructured or substandard (Bank of Italy, 2011). The database registers bad credit lines of any amount.

2. firms' trade credits assigned to financial intermediaries, with the distinction whether the assignment is with or without recourse. Trade credits assigned through factoring can also be separated from the rest.

The main purpose of the register is to provide banks with comprehensive information to assess the creditworthiness of their customers and to analyze credit risk, with the final aim of improving credit quality and, as an aftermath, financial stability.

The nature of administrative database, on which data (mainly collected for supervisory purposes and highly confidential) are compulsorily filed by banks, provides the advantage of lack of unit-level and item-level non response.

In addition, the 229 most relevant Italian banks by the size of their credit lines and the number and diffusion of their branches have to file quarterly information on the interest rates charged on each credit line above the threshold of 75,000 euro.

A wide range of measures are set up to insure the highest possible data quality level. First of all, the financial institutions are obliged to verify the correctness of the information they receive and to rectify any error, according to specific procedures. The absence of rectification implies that the data recorded are correct. The CCR can ask a financial intermediary to check particularly sensitive items: in such a case the institution must answer the request as soon as possible. The data we use are the most updated ones available at the end of March 2014.

4.3 The integrated archive

By using the uniquely identified tax code (available in all the sources), we built an integrated archive containing the 2010-2012 editions of Invind, the 2010-2013 editions of Sondtel and the corresponding CCR information. For every firm participating in the survey, we matched all the data available from the CCR for the 2010-2013 period. On average, 95% of the tax codes found in Invind or in Sondtel are exactly matched in the CCR archives, without significant variability across the different years, class size, sectors of activity, geographical location of headquarters.

5 Descriptive statistics

5.1 The evidence from survey data

Our data are taken from 7 consecutive editions of the Invind and Sondtel surveys carried out between 2010 and 2013. On average, 4,100 firms are observed on each occasion and 86% of those participating in a survey are still found in the next one; 70% of the firms belong to the industrial sector, 30% to the non-financial services (see Table 1).

In the years 2010-2012, 25% of firms in our sample had commercial relations with the GG. This share is lower for manufacturing firms (around 12%) and rises to 60 and 37% for firms operating in the energy and services sectors, respectively. The transitions between the two states of having or not trade relations with the GG are quite rare and affect 5-6% of the sample units in the period considered (half of cases are firms ceasing to deal with GG,

the other half is the reverse transition).

The average share of revenues from commercial relations with the GG over total revenues is around 20% for firms with trade relations with the GG. The trade credit towards the GG amounts to around 10% of total trade credit. Since the average share of revenues with the GG amounts only to 5% when computed over all firms, this is a clue that the propensity to use trade credit in the business transactions with GG is higher than average.

The Sondtel survey conducted between September and October 2013 asked firms whether they were eligible to receive repayments thanks to the repayment policy and whether they actually received it in the first 9 months of 2013. From these questions, we distinguish three groups of firms on the basis of an indicator of commercial relations with the GG according to the eligibility to receive money thanks to the 2013 laws and on whether such money was actually received. Since the payment was based on credit seniority (FIFO-like criterion), the indicator will also approximately reveals the duration of commercial relations with the GG.

It turns out that almost 60% of the eligible firms received some repayments; the share tends to grow with firm size (Table 2). As seen in the last column of the table, repayments are estimated to represent only 13% of the end-of-2012 total trade credit outstanding towards the general government.

The main characteristics of the three groups of firms are summarized in Table 3. We see that the differences in size (in terms of number of employees and average yearly revenues) among the three groups are not statistically significant. According to economic sector and headquarters' geographical area, the firms without commercial relations with the GG are broadly similar to those eligible for reimbursements (apart from the sector of energy and mining and the area of Central Italy). As for performance variables, the differences we found do not appear to be economically relevant, even if in few cases they are statistically significant.

5.2 The evidence from the Central Credit Register data

We distinguish between financial indicators based on short-term liquidity needs and those concerning firms' creditworthiness and present our results for the three groups of firms previously defined.

In all these indicators, the evolution preceding the policies is broadly similar across different groups, apart from a location shift. This is a first evidence, yet incomplete, supporting the idea that in the absence of intervention the evolution of the outcomes would have been equal across groups. In the next section we will provide further formal results in favor of the assumption.

The market for trade credit assigned by firms to financial intermediaries is a proxy of short-term liquidity constraints, according to the literature. During 2013, the repaid firms' utilization of assignments slightly declined in the with-recourse market, whereas firms not repaid tended to sell their claims more actively (Figure 1-a). A similar pattern is shown in the without-recourse market (here the repaid firms' activity climbed down from an end-of-2012 peak and remained flat during 2013, Figure 1-b). As for the net interest on factoring applied to repaid and not repaid

firms (Figure 1-c), it decreased during 2013 and the spread between the two groups considerably narrowed.

The pattern of deteriorated credit provides an evidence of firms' creditworthiness. During 2013, the share of substandard or restructured credit for repaid firms was much lower than that of firms still waiting for GG's repayments at the end of September 2013 (Figure 1-d).

6 **Results**

6.1 The modeling approach

Our goal is to evaluate the impact of the Italian GG's provisions enacted since 2012 to repay its trade debt towards firms. In order to perform this evaluation, we define two treatment groups on the basis of the reimbursement policy enacted in 2013:

1) the firms that were repaid during the year 2013 (G1);

2) the firms that could receive money but were still waiting at the end of 2013 (G2).

The firms that did not have commercial relations with the GG form the control group.¹⁰

We obtain more precise point estimates by running the model separately for the two treatment groups (once the control group and G1; once the control group and G2).

Since payments were made according to the seniority of trade debt, the two treatment groups also classify firms according to the duration of their commercial relation with the GG and as such the classification could also be used to gain insights about previous policies (indeed, this is possible since a transition matrix shows that the condition of commercial relations with GG is highly persistent). Our benchmark approach is a Difference-In-Differences (DID) (under the assumption that treated and control groups would have followed the same trend for the outcome in the absence of the policy), although we checked our results exploiting also a DIDID and panel estimators. Results discussed below are robust to these techniques (details are available on request).

Before proceeding we tackle some relevant issues. The first is the possible seasonality of financial data, which are available with monthly frequency. We purge the seasonal pattern by running separate regressions over the same month in different years (e.g., selecting January 2012 and January 2013 in one regression, February 2012 and February 2013 in a different regression and so on). In all our regressions we use at most 3 periods, for several reasons: first, we obtain more precise estimates against bias; second, we have a more balanced sample between treated and control groups; third, we avoid any problem related to precision of estimates in terms of efficiency (see Bertrand *et al.* 2004).

Our dependent variables are sometimes in logarithms, so that in these cases we evaluate a percent change caused by the policy, i.e. a DID of the form: [ln(yD, 1) - ln(yD, 0)] - [ln(yC, 1) - ln(yC, 0)] (for a discussion, see Mullahy, 1999).

The typical set of covariates (defined as Z below) that we use are dummies for: sector of activity, months (where

 $^{^{10}}$ Notice that this definition encompasses a different approach where firms already repaid (G1) are the treatment group and those not yet repaid (G2) the control group (see Appendix 2 for a proof).

appropriate), year, region, quartiles of sales and firm size, measured by using a categorical ordered variable for number of employees (20-49, 50-199, 200-499, 500 and over). All firm-level data are relative to 2011 (before treatment takes place), so that policy coefficients are not influenced by the dynamic of the covariates.

We always estimate:

$$y_{it} = \beta_{C,0} + \beta T_i + \gamma_G G_i + \tau_{G,DID} T_i G_i + Z_{i,t} \delta + E_{i,t}$$
(3)

where T_i is a dummy variable taking value 1 after the policy change, G_i is a dummy taking value 1 for treatment group (once G1 and once, in a separate regression, G2) and T_iG_i is the interaction between the two dummies.

If the policies successfully relax the financial conditions of eligible firms, the access to the release market and/or the amount of released credits should be lower than for the control group ($\tau_{i,DID} < 0$). At the same time, the policies may have avoided defaults of creditor firms, in which case the treatment coefficient should be negative ($\tau_{i,DID} < 0$).

Since we run a great number of regressions, we opt for a synthetical presentation of our results, by a series of plots showing the time pattern of the coefficients of interest along with their confidence intervals.

We run several robustness checks on specific subsamples, identified by: firm size, sector of activity (both with the same categories used in the model), quartile of sales, geographical area of firms' headquarters (North, Center, and South and Islands). This approach addresses the issue of possible heterogenous treatment effect (Abadie, 2005).

As for the identifying assumptions, we first test whether the common trend assumption is credible. In order to do this we run a flexible regression, for the period preceding the policy change and cannot reject the null hypothesis that coefficients are equal across groups at standard confidence levels. These results, with the help of graphical evidence provided above, are strong arguments that common trend is a feature of the data.¹¹ Since the hypothesis is key for identification of the policy effect we will analyze it case-by-case in Sections 6.2.2-6.2.3.

6.2 The results for the financial indicators

6.2.1 General Background

It has been pointed out that Italian firms are often short of liquidity, but economically sound (Panetta, 2013a and Panetta, 2013b). Their liquidity problems can be worsened by the large delay of GG payments, which can cause: 1) liquidity constraints, 2) lack of solvency induced by liquidity shortage, 3) less willingness by banks to lend because of 1) and 2).

At first, we focus on the possible impact of the policies on some liquidity indicators, such as assignment of trade credits to the release market, with a focus on factoring, and deterioration of firms' total bank credits. The complete

¹¹ Furthermore, suppose that common trend were not verified in our data, we would reasonably expect firms having commercial relations with the GG to be more at a disadvantage than those without commercial relations with it, because of more binding conditions imposed to them (as described in Section 1). It follows that the evolution of the former firms would have been even worse and our estimates would be conservative (downward bias of the policy effect).

set of policy effects (DID coefficients) is plotted in Figure 2–4, along with their 10% confidence intervals (total coverage), whereas point estimates for the months most relevant for the policy effects are in Table 4–5.

For the release market, we study both the extensive margin (i.e., number of firms accessing the market) and the corresponding intensive margin (i.e., amounts traded). However, these results are partial equilibria, which are driven by the interplay of demand and supply curves. In the absence of any reasonable instrument to discern between the two, an exam of the new equilibria may be more revealing only if we use other external stylized facts. We attempt an interpretation of our results in this direction in Subsection 6.2.2.

Our results suggest that the policies enacted since 2012 were effective for the firms that were reimbursed by the 2013 policy, and hence had a relatively longer credit seniority, at least for instruments without recourse towards original creditor (who released the credit). Moreover, there could also be an indirect positive effect for firms still waiting to be reimbursed at the end of 2013.

We find an effect of the policies on the release market: starting from the second half of 2012, releases tended to decrease for reimbursed firms, whereas they increased for firms still waiting to be repaid, in particular for factoring (see Figure 3-a and c). Both groups of firms could access the release market by paying lower interest rates during 2013. As we will argue, such an effect could be the aftermath of the shift of the demand schedule for repaid firms and of the supply schedule (i.e., less binding conditions imposed by the banks) for those not repaid.

The credit deterioration of the reimbursed firms decreased from the end of 2012, as shown by Figure 2-c.

The coefficients for all the financial indicators examined are affected by greater uncertainty for the firms still waiting for reimbursements at the end of 2013, consistent (by the law of total variance) with a large heterogeneity of this group of firms.¹²

The next two Subsections will provide more details on the effects of the policies on firms' financial conditions. Subsection 6.2.2 will also discuss the main points raised by the economic literature on trade credit.

6.2.2 Firms' financial constraints

As for financial constraints indicators, we first measure the policy effect on the access to the release market (Table 4; Figure 2–4). In Italy, firms' commercial activity involves the utilization of trade credit on a much more intensive scale than other advanced countries (Omiccioli, 2004). A well-known role of trade credit in firm-bank relationships is the possibility for firms to use it as collateral to obtain bank loans. Therefore, we interpret the utilization of the release market of trade credits as a proxy measure of firms' financial constraints. Our choice is bolstered by a rich literature on factoring, that is the main instruments used by firm to trade illiquid assets (such as their trade credits) into cash. It can be done either on a "without- recourse", i.e. the factor assumes the default risk, or "with-recourse" basis, i.e. the factor has a claim against the seller for payment deficiency (see Section 2). In advanced

¹² Some of the heterogeneity may be overcome by modeling firm-specific trends (i.e. by using DIDID instead of DID), which can produce in some cases clearer patterns for the firms not repaid, without changing those relative to the firms repaid.

countries, factoring is mainly done on a without-recourse basis (in Italy, for example, 69% of all factoring was done in such a way in 2004).¹³

Global data on factoring utilization in advanced countries suggest its potential advantage compared to traditional types of bank lending, under certain conditions (Klapper, 2006). More specifically, factoring could finance high-risk firms by releasing their credits, since the factor underwrites only the risk of the released trade credit. The instrument could provide risky and small-sized firms with a way to finance their growth, thereby bypassing liquidity constraints derived from their lack of high-quality collateral. Benvenuti and Gallo (2004) argue that financially stressed firms have an above-the-average propensity to use factoring and support this claim with econometric evidence on a large sample of Italian firms.

These references support our hypothesis that reimbursed firms could decrease their utilization of the release market (mainly factoring) because of less pressing liquidity constraints.

Before looking at results, we briefly comment on the key common trend assumption. Focusing on the access to the without-recourse market, the graphical evidence of Figure 1-b supports such an assumption, since the frequencies of access to the market for the two groups of firms, either reimbursed or eligible but not reimbursed, are quite close until the end of 2012 and then start to diverge. The access to the factoring segment, not shown for brevity, features a similar trend.

A more formal argument is that the F-test for the null hypothesis of the equality of coefficients across all different groups is never rejected in a regression of each dependent variable on the covariates interacted with the group dummy. The test refers to the period preceding the first standardization policy, which was launched in May 2012. This is the standard test to support the validity of the common-trend assumption.¹⁴

The results on the generic access to release in market are not statistically significant, but are in accordance with the indication of the literature, since the firms receiving money tended to decrease their access to the release market, (as shown by the DID coefficients, Figure 2-a), whereas eligible firms not receiving money tended to increase it. We obtain significant results for the specific without-recourse market (Figure 3-a), where not reimbursed firms increased their access by 3–4 percentage points as early as 2012. Point estimates for access to instrument with recourse are never statistically significant (Figure 3-b).

Since access to release market can take various forms, we focus on factoring, which accounts for over 90% of all releases in our sample, paying more attention to that without recourse. Firms still waiting for money from the GG at the end of 2013 increased their access to factoring without recourse by 3.5 percentage points during the implementation of the standardization policy at the end of 2012, but remained stable at the level of 2012 during the payment policy of

¹³ These definitions highlight the role of the moral hazard in factoring (Sopranzetti, 1998), by which the propensity to without-recourse factoring increases with trade credit quality. Firms with a high bankruptcy probability may be unable to factor their entire trade credits pool and in general they will be able to factor without recourse their most reliable trade credits and with recourse those of intermediate quality.

¹⁴ These results are available on request, since they are not shown for brevity.

2013 (see Figure 3-c), at the same time, the firms receiving money decreased their access to this market by 1.5 percentage points, but remained relatively stable between 2012 and 2013. The results for the access to the market of with-recourse factoring are in line with those relative to the whole with-recourse market and likewise not significant (Figure 3-d).¹⁵

Looking at subsamples, the access without recourse is larger for big companies, and, to a lesser extent, for those headquartered in Southern Italy or operating in the services sectors.¹⁶

Overall, these results show that the eligible firms not repaid increased their access to the release market, whereas those repaid decreased such access, with effects becoming significant since the second half of 2012, when the standardization policies could be actually implemented.

We can attempt to interpret these results going beyond the partial equilibrium. The first natural question is whether it is a consequence of a shift of the demand or of the supply-side schedule. With the data at hand, we cannot answer this question empirically. However, two arguments provide evidence in favor of one of the two sides. The first is given by a specific question in the Bank of Italy's Business Outlook survey carried out in 2013, which asked firms to indicate the utilization of GG reimbursements: a substantial share of the reimbursed firms, slightly less than 50%, used the money to pay their own trade debts or reduce their payables to the financial system. This is a clue that reimbursed firms might have decreased their demand for factoring. The second argument is based on a simple classical theoretical framework of demand and supply that allows us to make some comparative statics. Consider the equilibrium point E in Figure 5. We see that the total amount factored without recourse by repaid firms declined during 2013 (Table 4). This may be consistent with a shift downward of the demand curve or an upward shift of the supply schedule. In the former case, we would observe a lower price as in D0, whereas in the latter case there would be a higher price as in S1.¹⁷ Which is the most likely effect between the two? We run a DID on the discount rate for factoring to understand this: the discount rate for both groups in 2013 was lower than in 2012, although not at the usual significance levels (Table 4). Our results are not in contrast with a smaller demand for release instruments by firms receiving money and loosening supply conditions for those not receiving it. These findings might indicate that factors compensated the former group's smaller demand with a larger supply to the latter group.

We are also interested in the intensive margin for the firms accessing the release market. We find that the amount of overall factoring was not significantly affected by the policy, regardless of whether firms received money or not: this derives from the invariance of factoring without recourse (Figure 4-a, Table 4) and the lower level of factoring with recourse (much smaller than the first component) during the standardization policy (Figure 4-b).

These results show that the policies were mainly successful for the firms that actually received money, when

¹⁵ We ran a robustness check (not shown for brevity) by dropping the accesses to the release market specifically due to trade credits towards the GG, obtaining broadly similar results.

¹⁶ We obtain the same results if we focus on trade credit towards the national health service. This is relevant, since this sector accounts for the largest share of GG's trade debts and is also one of the most financially constrained.

¹⁷ Of course both curves would probably move: this is the case of S0 where they move such that one offsets the other (i.e., the price is constant). However, as long as price increases we will talk of a larger shift in the supply curve.

they used instruments that fully transfer the risk (i.e. without recourse). Firms not receiving money benefited from the policies mostly through less binding supply conditions. Since the 2013 repayments were carried out on a First-In-First-Out principle, they are a proxy for the seniority of the trade relations with the GG. Accordingly, the positive effect of the 2012 standardization policy can be ascribed to the fact that the firms with relatively junior credits wanted to avoid to be liquidity-constrained because of late payments and after the standardization policy rushed to assign their credits to financial intermediaries. The opportunity cost to release the credits would have been higher for firms whose credits had higher seniority.

6.2.3 Firms' creditworthiness

Firms' long-run economic conditions could worsen because of debtors' repayment delays, that eventually may even lead creditors to default.

In order to study this issue, we focus on the substandard or restructured credit lines, that can have short-term variations and as a consequence may be influenced by GG's trade debt policies.¹⁸

As for the common-trend assumption, Figure 1-d clearly shows that the patterns of credit deterioration begin to diverge across groups starting from the end of 2012, thus supporting the assumption. A similar pattern, omitted for brevity, recurs for the deterioration of long-term loans. The same indication is provided by the F-test, run in the same way as that shown in Subsection 6.2.2 for the access to the without-recourse market with similar results.

From Figure 2-c it is clear that the share of deteriorated bank debt became significantly lower for the reimbursed firms, whereas it did not have significant variations for those not yet repaid at the end of 2013.

This general result does not distinguish between short-term and long-term loans. When we split the two, the pattern of deteriorated long-term credit (Figure 3-f) is very similar to the general one, since about 85% of total debts are long-term. The benefit for them became significant since October 2012 (initial reduction by 1.5%), when the standardization of certification was actually implemented (Table 5). The reimbursement policy reinforced this positive effect during 2013 (with an additional 1% reduction with regards to 2012). Because the definition of substandard credit is in part discretionary, these positive effects may signal both an improvement of firms' actual conditions and of banks' perceptions of their creditworthiness.

On the other hand, the policy did not affect the deterioration of short-term credit (see Figure 3-e). A likely explanation of this result is that the short-horizon prediction of credit deterioration is very reliable, regardless of the evaluated policies, and therefore only safe short-term loans tend to be granted (the fact that the share of substandard or restructured short-term loans, amounting to less than 4%, is lower than that for long-term loans supports this intuition).

¹⁸ These variations are not necessarily found for bad debts, which tend to persist on banks' balance-sheet for years (Bank of Italy, 2012).

Interesting distinctions arise when we take into considerations the heterogeneity of the effect. Indeed, among firms that received money, those of medium size, medium sales level, located in the North or South or operating in the services experienced an above-the-average effect; among the firms that did not receive money, the not significant general effect becomes significant for firms with large sales, operating in the North and in the manufacturing sector.

Another reason for concern was that financial intermediaries would be less willing to lend money, because the delay of GG payments could put firms at default risk. Since more than 95% of firms have some forms of bank loans, we only consider the intensive margin. We consider the amount of short- and long-term agreed loans (Figure 4-c – 4-d; Table 5). In general, the policies had no significant effects on the amount of short-run and long-run agreed loans. The sample splits reveal that, among firms receiving money, the smallest ones in terms of size or sales and those operating in the manufacturing sector benefited by superior short-term loans as an effect of the policy, whereas the largest ones among those not receiving money received a positive effect. The splits do not reveal any significant sub-effect for long-run loans.

7 Conclusions

Our paper estimates the effects of the laws enacted in Italy since 2012 to accelerate the reimbursement of General Government's trade debts towards firms. More specifically, we analyze their effects on firms' financial conditions and longer-term economic perspectives.

By exploiting the data of the Business Outlook Survey on Industrial and Services firms, carried out between September and October 2013, we could distinguish three groups of firms: 1) those eligible to receive the repayments, which actually got it in the first nine months of 2013; 2) those eligible to receive the repayments, that were still waiting for them when they were interviewed; 3) those without trade relations with the General Government. These data were matched with Central Credit Register information in order to assess firms' financial conditions, as well as other economic indicators.

The Difference-In-Differences (DID) approach we used shows that the firms repaid improved their financial outlook, without significant effects on other economic indicators. More specifically, the reimbursed firms improved both their short-term financial position (they made less use of factoring and, more generally, of credit assignment without recourse) and their longer-term relationship towards the banking sector (the deterioration of their credit lines significantly decreased). We even show an indirect positive effect, albeit more contained, for firms eligible for refunds but still waiting for them at the end of 2013, which might have benefited from lower interest rates when they tried to release their trade credits in the market. Our results are robust to different techniques. Some interesting distinctions arise across different sub-samples.

References

Abadie, A. (2005). Semiparametric difference-in-differences estimators. Review of Economic Studies 72(1), 1–19.

- Angrist, J. and J. Pischke (2008). *Mostly Harmless Econometrics: An Empiricist's Companion*. Princeton University Press.
- Bank of Italy (2011). Centrale dei rischi istruzioni per gli intermediari creditizi (Italian version). *Circolare 139 della Banca d'Italia (aggiorn. n. 14 del 29 aprile 2011)*, II.23.

Bank of Italy (2012). Statistical appendix (Italian version). Annual Report, 127.

Bank of Italy (2013a). Business outlook survey of industrial and service firms (year 2013). Supplements to the Statistical Bulletin 56.

Bank of Italy (2013b). Survey of industrial and service firms (year 2012). Supplements to the Statistical Bulletin 38.

Bank of Italy (2014). Annual Report for 2013 - May 2014.

- Benvenuti, M. and M. Gallo (2004). Perché le imprese ricorrono al factoring? il caso dell'Italia. *Bank of Italy's Working papers* (518).
- Bertrand, M., E. Duflo, and S. Mullainathan (2004). How much should we trust differences-in-differences estimates? *The Quarterly Journal of Economics 119 (1)*, 249–275.
- Chiades P. and V. Mengotto (2013). Il calo degli investimenti nei Comuni tra Patto di stabilità interno e carenza di risorse, *Bank of Italy's Occasional papers* (210).
- Leandro D'Aurizio, Domenico Depalo, Sandro Momigliano, Emilio Vadalà (2015), I debiti commerciali delle Amministrazioni italiane: un problema ancora irrisolto, Politica economica, v. 31, 3, pp. 421-458.
- Flynn, S and M. Pessoa (2014). Prevention and Management of Government Expenditure Arrears. Technical Notes and Manuals, International Monetary Fund, May 2014.
- Gibbons, C. E., J. C. S. Serrato, and M. B. Urbancic (2014, July). Broken or fixed effects? Working Paper 20342, National Bureau of Economic Research.

- Imbens, G. W. and J. M. Wooldridge (2009, March). Recent developments in the econometrics of program evaluation. *Journal of Economic Literature* 47(1), 5–86.
- Klapper, L. (2006). The role of factoring for financing small and medium enterprises. *Journal of Banking and Finance* (30), 3111–3130.
- Mullahy, J. (1999, November). Interaction Effects and Difference-in-Difference Estimation in Loglinear Models. NBER Technical Working Papers 0245, National Bureau of Economic Research, Inc.
- Omiccioli, M. (2004, June). Il credito commerciale: problemi e teorie. Bank of Italy's Working papers (494).
- Panetta, F. (2013a, March). Banks, finance, growth. Speech held at Associazione per lo Sviluppo degli Studi di Banca e Borsa, in collaboration with Università Cattolica del Sacro Cuore of Milan.
- Panetta, F. (2013b, June). Credit and the financing of firms. Speech held at Federazione delle Banche di Credito Cooperativo Lazio Umbria Sardegna.
- Sopranzetti, B. J. (1998). The economics of factoring accounts receivable. *Journal of Economics and Business* (50), 339–359.
- Wooldridge, J. M. (2001, October). *Econometric Analysis of Cross Section and Panel Data*, Volume 1 of *MIT Press Books*. The MIT Press.

Tables and Figures

	Sample size ^(a)	% of firms dealing with the General	Revenues Governme re	with the General ent as % of total evenues	Trade credit towards the General
		Government	all firms	only firms dealing with the General Government	Government as % of total trade credit
Economic sector					
Manufacturing	2787	12.4	2.0	16.2	4.8
Energy and mining	147	60.0	14.3	24.1	10.1
Non-financial services	1190	36.6	8.3	23.1	14.0
Class size ^(b)					
20-49 employees	1505	24.1	4.2	18.0	5.0
50-199 employees	1564	25.4	6.8	27.1	8.3
200-499 employees	602	33.5	10.1	30.1	5.7
500 employees and over	452	37.6	11.4	30.0	19.5
Geographical area ^(c)					
North	1795	24.1	3.7	15.7	8.3
Center	885	25.4	6.2	24.5	13.4
South and Islands	1444	27.7	9.0	32.9	10.7
Total firms	4124	25.1	5.3	21.5	9.8

Table 1: Main characteristics of the firms^(a), 2010-2012

Source: INVIND surveys (2010-2012 editions).

(a) Averages computed over the three Survey editions 2010,2011,2012. - (b) Sondtel surveys in the same years also considered.

(c) Number of employees. - (d) Location of firm's headquarters.

	Firms not eligible to	Firms eligible to repayment and not	Firms eligible to repayment and repaid in 2013 ^(c)		
	repayment	repaid in 2013 ^(c)		% of total trade credit repaid ^(d)	
Economic sector					
Manufacturing	95.4	2.1	2.5	16.5	
Energy and mining	74.7	8.4	16.8	15.3	
Non-financial services	86.1	5.7	8.3	11.3	
Class size ^(b)					
20-49 employees	91.6	3.4	5.0	43.7	
50-199 employees	89.1	5.2	5.7	9.9	
200-499 employees	81.3	6.0	12.7	22.5	
500 employees and over	80.3	3.5	16.1	12.6	
Geographical area ^(c)					
North	92.1	3.0	4.9	10.3	
Center	89.5	5.2	5.4	14.0	
South and Islands	85.1	6.2	8.7	19.7	
Total firms	90.3	4.0	5.7	12.6	

Table 2: Diffusion among	firms of repayments	of overdue	trade	credits	by the	General	Government	, 2013
-		(% of firn	ıs)		•			

Source: SONDTEL survey (2013 edition). (a) Number of employees. - (b) Location of firm's headquarters. - (c) First nine months of 2013. - (d) Trade credit towards state sector outstanding at the end of 2012.

	(1)	(2)	(3)	Significance	Significance	Significance
	Firms not eligible to repayment	Firms eligible to repayment and not repaid in 2013 ^(a)	Firms eligible to repayment and repaid in 2013 ^(a)	(2)-(1) ^(b)	(3)-(1) ^(b)	(3)-(2) ^(b)
Number of firms in the sample	3,541	157	271			
Number of employees (log, 2011)	3.9	4.1	4.1			
Revenues of sales ^(c) (log, 2011)	9.3	9.3	9.3			
Economic sector ^(d) Manufacturing Energy and mining Non-financial services Geographical area ^(d,e) North Center South and Islands	70.5 3.0 26.5 43.6 21.5 24.0	39.4 13.1 47.5 26.9 22.5 50.6	38.1 12.5 49.4 33.1 26.0	***	***	
Total firms	100.0	100.0	100.0			
	End-of-2013	outlook variab	les			
Investment in 2013 compared to end-of-2012 plans ^(f) Investment planned for 2014 ^(f) Sales revenues change (JanSep. 2013 vs JanSep. 2012) ^(f)	2.7 2.9	2.7 2.6	2.7 3.0	***	**	***
Sales revenues change (JanSep. 2013 vs JanSep. 2012) ^(†) Sales revenues; expected change (Oct, 2013-March 2014)	2.8 3.0 2.7	2.5 3.0 2.7	2.0 2.9		***	**
Expected after-tax result for 2013 ^(f)	2.7	2.7	3.0 2.6		***	

Table 3: Main characteristics of the firms eligible or not eligible to repayment, 2011-2013

Source: SONDTEL survey (2013 edition) and INVIND surveys (2010-2012 editions). (a) First nine months of 2013. - (b) *= between 5 and 10%, **=between 1 and 5%, ***=less than 1%. - (c) Thousands of euro. - (d) Significance of a chi-square test. - (e) Location of firm's headquarters. - (f) Mean of an ordered 5-category variable.

Firms' f	inancial constr	aints (variation	n over 12 mon	ths before)	
2012 2013				013	
	May Octo		May	October	
	Access to	the release ma	arket (share)	I	
		Total	. ,		
Not paid	0.060	0.103	0.049	0.043	
Paid	-0.016	-0.006	-0.018	-0.009	
		Without re	ecourse	I	
Not paid	0.027^{*}	0.037^{***}	0.016	0.019	
Paid	-0.010	-0.012	-0.003	-0.003	
		With rec	ourse		
Not paid	0.050	0.089	0.056	0.040	
Paid	-0.013	-0.001	-0.017	-0.010	
A	Access to the re	elease market-	factoring (sha	are)	
		Total			
Not paid	0.061	0.104	0.051	0.047	
Paid	-0.017	-0.009	-0.017	-0.009	
		Without re	ecourse	I	
Not paid	0.024	0.035**	0.017	0.018	
Paid	-0.013	-0.015*	-0.003	-0.004	
		With rec	ourse	I	
Not paid	0.054	0.093	0.057	0.044	
Paid	-0.010	-0.001	-0.017	-0.010	
	Amo	unt of factorin	ng <i>(log)</i>	I	
		Total			
Not paid	-0.333	-0.151	-0.241	0.023	
Paid	0.068	-0.492*	-0.220	-0.072	
		Without re	ecourse	I	
Not paid	0.665	0.406	0.343	0.437	
Paid	0.504	-0.085	-0.301	-0.396	
		With rec	ourse		
Not paid	-1.248***	-0.451	-0.568	-0.476	
Paid	-0.032	-1.027***	-0.211	-0.145	
Disc	count rate for f	actoring (nom	inal nercent n	oints)	
2150	NOT pa	ived	nave	ed	
Year	p•	· J	Par Je		
2012	0.6	532	0.	636	
2013	-0.781		-0.501		

 Table 4: DID coefficients for those months relevant for the effects of the policies examined

Weighed regressions representative of the whole population. – Firm-level control variables relative to 2011: sector of activity, headquarters' region, number of employees, quartiles of sales, government bond spread.

Firms	s' creditworthiness (variation over 12 months before)					
	2012		20	013		
	May	October	May	October		
		Default (%)		I		
		Total				
Not paid	4.402	3.380	1.947	2.067		
Paid	0.059	-1.403**	-0.979***	-0.883*		
		Short term	l	!		
Not paid	5.800	3.242	1.705	1.951		
Paid	0.033	-0.415	-0.095	-0.123		
		Long term	'	'		
Not paid	4.596	3.911	2.407	2.532		
Paid	-0.148	-1.528***	-0.974**	-0.864**		
	А	greed loans (le	og.)	ļ		
		Total				
Not paid	0.001	0.044	0.065	0.075		
Paid	-0.071	-0.031	0.046	0.007		
		Short term	ļ	ļ		
Not paid	-0.163	0.440	0.120	0.170		
Paid	-0.012	-0.021	0.038	0.091		
		Long term				
Not paid	-0.014	-0.037	0.012	0.055		
Paid	-0.140	0.002	0.004	-0.011		

 Table 5: DID coefficients for those months relevant for the effects of the policies examined

Weighed regressions representative of the whole population. – Firm-level control variables relative to 2011: sector of activity, headquarters' region, number of employees, quartiles of sales, government bond spread.





(a) Share of firms' assignment with recourse



(b) Share of firms' assignment without recourse.



(c) Average net interest rate - factoring.



(d) Share of deteriorated credit lines.



Figure 2: Financial indicators (variation over 12 months before) - DID coefficients -10% Confidence interval

201 im 1201 im 7201 ân 1 201 ân 7201 ân 1 201 ân 7 Period Period Period

(b) Access to the release market - factoring



(c) Share of defaulted debts over total debt

Weighed regressions representative of the whole population. —- Firm-level control variables relative to 2011: sector of activity, headquarters' region, number of employees, quartiles of sales, government bond spread.



Figure 3: Financial indicators (variation over 12 months before) - DID coefficients - 10% Confidence interval

(a) Share of defaulted debts over short-term debt

(b) Share of defaulted debt over long-term debt

Weighed regressions representative of the whole population. —- Firm-level control variables relative to 2011: sector of activity, headquarters' region, number of employees, quartiles of sales, government bond spread.



Figure 4: Financial indicators (variation over 12 months before); avg. amount of factoring and agreed loans - DID coefficients - 10% Confidence interval

Weighed regressions representative of the whole population. — Firm-level control variables relative to 2011: sector of activity, headquarters' region, number of employees, quartiles of sales, government bond spread.



Figure 5: A theoretical framework for disentangling the supply/demand side effect

Appendix 1: reports

- 1. The EDP notification data can be found at <u>http://epp.eurostat.ec.europa.eu/portal/page/</u> portal/government_finance_statistics/documents/Note_on_AF.71L-Apr_2013.pdf
- Intrum Justitia is a European company in the sector of management and recovery of credit. The report is available at http://www.intrum.com/Documents/Italy/EPI/2013/2013_05_16_EPI2013.pdf
- 3. The Eurostat decision on the Maastricht debt definition including trade credits is published at http:// epp.eurostat.ec.europa.eu/portal/page/portal/government_finance_statistics/documents/ Statist.record.of_some_operations_rel.to_trade_credits_i.pdf
- 4. "Progetto Confindustria" is available at http://www.confindustria.it/Aree/DocumentiPub.nsf/ 386B9AC5F35F1DFBC1257B6B0048B837/File/Progetto%20Confindustria%20per%20Italia.pdf
- 5. The projections of the effects of the policies on the real business cycle are in the "Relazione al Parla- mento 2013" at http://www.mef.gov.it/doc-finanza-pubblica/rap/2013/documenti/relazione_ al_Parlamento_2013.pdf
- 6. The agreement between Government and banks is available at http://www.mef.gov.it/certificazionecrediti/ documenti/CONVENZIONE.pdf

Appendix 2: Generalizing DID to 2 periods and 3 groups

The extension is straightforward, as the expected values are:

$$D_1 = 0, D_2 = 0, T = 1 = \beta T$$

 $D_1 = 0, D_2 = 0, T = 0 =$

$$D_1 = 1, D_2 = 0, T = 1 = \beta T + \gamma_1 G_1 + \tau_{1,DID} T G_1$$
$$D_1 = 1, D_2 = 0, T = 0 = -\gamma_1 G_1$$

 $\beta T + \tau_{1,DID} T G_1$

$$D_1 = 0, D_2 = 1, T = 1 = \beta T + \gamma_2 G_2 + \tau_{2,DID} T G_2$$
$$D_1 = 0, D_2 = 1, T = 0 = -\gamma_2 G_2$$

 $\beta T + \tau_{2,DID} T G_2$ and the two treatments are mutually exclusive, so that $D_1 = D_2 = 1$ is never observed. Taking the differences with respect to the control group identifies the parameters of interest $\tau_{i,DID}$ with $i = \{1, 2\}$.

We further show that using two treatment groups is informative also for the definition of D_1 as treatment and D_2 as control. Indeed, from eq. 1 for D_1 we get:

$$y_{D1} = \beta^{D1}T + \gamma^{D1}G^{D1} + \tau^{D1}_{DID}TG^{D1}$$

whereas for D2:

$$y_{D2} = \beta^{D2}T + \gamma^{D2}G^{D2} + \tau^{D2}_{DID}TG^{D2}$$

Considering that G^{D1} and G^{D2} are dummy variables, it follows that:

$$y_{D2} - y_{D1} = \delta y = (\beta^{D2} - \beta^{D1})T + (\gamma^{D2} - \gamma^{D1})(G^{D2} - G^{D1}) + (\tau^{D2}_{DID} - \tau^{D1}_{DID})(TG^{D2} - TG^{D1})$$
$$= \tilde{\beta}T + \tilde{\gamma}G^{D1,D2} + \tilde{\tau}^{D1,D2}TG^{D1,D2}$$

Nonetheless, in Section 6 we have checked all our results with also this group definition.

RECENTLY PUBLISHED "TEMI" (*)

- N. 1037 Deconstructing the gains from trade: selection of industries vs. reallocation of workers, by Stefano Bolatto and Massimo Sbracia (November 2015).
- N. 1038 Young adults living with their parents and the influence of peers, by Effrosyni Adamopoulou and Ezgi Kaya (November 2015).
- N. 1039 Shoe-leather costs in the euro area and the foreign demand for euro banknotes, by Alessandro Calza and Andrea Zaghini (November 2015).
- N. 1040 *The macroeconomic effects of low and falling inflation at the zero lower bound*, by Stefano Neri and Alessandro Notarpietro (November 2015).
- N. 1041 The use of fixed-term contracts and the (adverse) selection of public sector workers, by Lucia Rizzica (November 2015).
- N. 1042 Multitask agents and incentives: the case of teaching and research for university professors, by Marta De Philippis (November 2015).
- N. 1043 *Exposure to media and corruption perceptions*, by Lucia Rizzica and Marco Tonello (November 2015).
- N. 1044 *The supply side of household finance*, by Gabriele Foà, Leonardo Gambacorta, Luigi Guiso and Paolo Emilio Mistrulli (November 2015).
- N. 1045 *Optimal inflation weights in the euro area*, by by Daniela Bragoli, Massimiliano Rigon and Francesco Zanetti (January 2016).
- N. 1046 *Carry trades and exchange rate volatility: a TVAR approach*, by Alessio Anzuini and Francesca Brusa (January 2016).
- N. 1047 A new method for the correction of test scores manipulation by Santiago Pereda Fernández (January 2016).
- N. 1048 *Heterogeneous peer effects in education* by by Eleonora Patacchini, Edoardo Rainone and Yves Zenou (January 2016).
- N. 1049 *Debt maturity and the liquidity of secondary debt markets*, by Max Bruche and Anatoli Segura (January 2016).
- N. 1050 *Contagion and fire sales in banking networks*, by Sara Cecchetti, Marco Rocco and Laura Sigalotti (January 2016).
- N. 1051 How does bank capital affect the supply of mortgages? Evidence from a randomized experiment, by Valentina Michelangeli and Enrico Sette (February 2016).
- N. 1052 Adaptive models and heavy tails, by Davide Delle Monache and Ivan Petrella (February 2016).
- N. 1053 Estimation of counterfactual distributions with a continuous endogenous treatment, by Santiago Pereda Fernández (February 2016).
- N. 1054 *Labor force participation, wage rigidities, and inflation*, by Francesco Nucci and Marianna Riggi (February 2016).
- N. 1055 Bank internationalization and firm exports: evidence from matched firm-bank data, by Raffaello Bronzini and Alessio D'Ignazio (February 2016).
- N. 1056 *Retirement, pension eligibility and home production*, by Emanuele Ciani (February 2016).
- N. 1057 The real effects of credit crunch in the Great Recession: evidence from Italian provinces, by Guglielmo Barone, Guido de Blasio and Sauro Mocetti (February 2016).
- N. 1058 *The quantity of corporate credit rationing with matched bank-firm data*, by Lorenzo Burlon, Davide Fantino, Andrea Nobili and Gabriele Sene (February 2016).
- N. 1059 *Estimating the money market microstructure with negative and zero interest rates*, by Edoardo Rainone and Francesco Vacirca (February 2016).

^(*) Requests for copies should be sent to:

Banca d'Italia – Servizio Studi di struttura economica e finanziaria – Divisione Biblioteca e Archivio storico – Via Nazionale, 91 – 00184 Rome – (fax 0039 06 47922059). They are available on the Internet www.bancaditalia.it.

- A. MERCATANTI, A likelihood-based analysis for relaxing the exclusion restriction in randomized experiments with imperfect compliance, Australian and New Zealand Journal of Statistics, v. 55, 2, pp. 129-153, TD No. 683 (August 2008).
- F. CINGANO and P. PINOTTI, *Politicians at work. The private returns and social costs of political connections*, Journal of the European Economic Association, v. 11, 2, pp. 433-465, **TD No. 709 (May 2009).**
- F. BUSETTI and J. MARCUCCI, *Comparing forecast accuracy: a Monte Carlo investigation*, International Journal of Forecasting, v. 29, 1, pp. 13-27, **TD No. 723 (September 2009).**
- D. DOTTORI, S. I-LING and F. ESTEVAN, *Reshaping the schooling system: The role of immigration*, Journal of Economic Theory, v. 148, 5, pp. 2124-2149, **TD No. 726 (October 2009).**
- A. FINICELLI, P. PAGANO and M. SBRACIA, *Ricardian Selection*, Journal of International Economics, v. 89, 1, pp. 96-109, **TD No. 728 (October 2009).**
- L. MONTEFORTE and G. MORETTI, *Real-time forecasts of inflation: the role of financial variables*, Journal of Forecasting, v. 32, 1, pp. 51-61, **TD No. 767 (July 2010).**
- R. GIORDANO and P. TOMMASINO, *Public-sector efficiency and political culture*, FinanzArchiv, v. 69, 3, pp. 289-316, **TD No. 786 (January 2011).**
- E. GAIOTTI, Credit availablility and investment: lessons from the "Great Recession", European Economic Review, v. 59, pp. 212-227, TD No. 793 (February 2011).
- F. NUCCI and M. RIGGI, *Performance pay and changes in U.S. labor market dynamics*, Journal of Economic Dynamics and Control, v. 37, 12, pp. 2796-2813, **TD No. 800 (March 2011).**
- G. CAPPELLETTI, G. GUAZZAROTTI and P. TOMMASINO, *What determines annuity demand at retirement?*, The Geneva Papers on Risk and Insurance – Issues and Practice, pp. 1-26, **TD No. 805 (April 2011).**
- A. ACCETTURO e L. INFANTE, Skills or Culture? An analysis of the decision to work by immigrant women in Italy, IZA Journal of Migration, v. 2, 2, pp. 1-21, TD No. 815 (July 2011).
- A. DE SOCIO, *Squeezing liquidity in a "lemons market" or asking liquidity "on tap"*, Journal of Banking and Finance, v. 27, 5, pp. 1340-1358, **TD No. 819 (September 2011).**
- S. GOMES, P. JACQUINOT, M. MOHR and M. PISANI, Structural reforms and macroeconomic performance in the euro area countries: a model-based assessment, International Finance, v. 16, 1, pp. 23-44, TD No. 830 (October 2011).
- G. BARONE and G. DE BLASIO, *Electoral rules and voter turnout*, International Review of Law and Economics, v. 36, 1, pp. 25-35, **TD No. 833 (November 2011).**
- O. BLANCHARD and M. RIGGI, Why are the 2000s so different from the 1970s? A structural interpretation of changes in the macroeconomic effects of oil prices, Journal of the European Economic Association, v. 11, 5, pp. 1032-1052, **TD No. 835 (November 2011).**
- R. CRISTADORO and D. MARCONI, *Household savings in China*, in G. Gomel, D. Marconi, I. Musu, B. Quintieri (eds), The Chinese Economy: Recent Trends and Policy Issues, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, TD No. 838 (November 2011).
- A. ANZUINI, M. J. LOMBARDI and P. PAGANO, *The impact of monetary policy shocks on commodity prices*, International Journal of Central Banking, v. 9, 3, pp. 119-144, **TD No. 851 (February 2012).**
- R. GAMBACORTA and M. IANNARIO, *Measuring job satisfaction with CUB models*, Labour, v. 27, 2, pp. 198-224, **TD No. 852 (February 2012).**
- G. ASCARI and T. ROPELE, Disinflation effects in a medium-scale new keynesian model: money supply rule versus interest rate rule, European Economic Review, v. 61, pp. 77-100, TD No. 867 (April 2012)
- E. BERETTA and S. DEL PRETE, Banking consolidation and bank-firm credit relationships: the role of geographical features and relationship characteristics, Review of Economics and Institutions, v. 4, 3, pp. 1-46, TD No. 901 (February 2013).
- M. ANDINI, G. DE BLASIO, G. DURANTON and W. STRANGE, *Marshallian labor market pooling: evidence from Italy*, Regional Science and Urban Economics, v. 43, 6, pp.1008-1022, **TD No. 922 (July 2013).**
- G. SBRANA and A. SILVESTRINI, Forecasting aggregate demand: analytical comparison of top-down and bottom-up approaches in a multivariate exponential smoothing framework, International Journal of Production Economics, v. 146, 1, pp. 185-98, TD No. 929 (September 2013).
- A. FILIPPIN, C. V, FIORIO and E. VIVIANO, *The effect of tax enforcement on tax morale,* European Journal of Political Economy, v. 32, pp. 320-331, **TD No. 937 (October 2013).**

- G. M. TOMAT, *Revisiting poverty and welfare dominance*, Economia pubblica, v. 44, 2, 125-149, **TD No. 651** (December 2007).
- M. TABOGA, *The riskiness of corporate bonds*, Journal of Money, Credit and Banking, v.46, 4, pp. 693-713, **TD No. 730 (October 2009).**
- G. MICUCCI and P. ROSSI, *Il ruolo delle tecnologie di prestito nella ristrutturazione dei debiti delle imprese in crisi*, in A. Zazzaro (a cura di), Le banche e il credito alle imprese durante la crisi, Bologna, Il Mulino, **TD No. 763 (June 2010).**
- F. D'AMURI, *Gli effetti della legge 133/2008 sulle assenze per malattia nel settore pubblico*, Rivista di politica economica, v. 105, 1, pp. 301-321, **TD No. 787 (January 2011).**
- R. BRONZINI and E. IACHINI, Are incentives for R&D effective? Evidence from a regression discontinuity approach, American Economic Journal : Economic Policy, v. 6, 4, pp. 100-134, TD No. 791 (February 2011).
- P. ANGELINI, S. NERI and F. PANETTA, *The interaction between capital requirements and monetary policy*, Journal of Money, Credit and Banking, v. 46, 6, pp. 1073-1112, **TD No. 801 (March 2011).**
- M. BRAGA, M. PACCAGNELLA and M. PELLIZZARI, *Evaluating students' evaluations of professors,* Economics of Education Review, v. 41, pp. 71-88, **TD No. 825 (October 2011).**
- M. FRANCESE and R. MARZIA, Is there Room for containing healthcare costs? An analysis of regional spending differentials in Italy, The European Journal of Health Economics, v. 15, 2, pp. 117-132, TD No. 828 (October 2011).
- L. GAMBACORTA and P. E. MISTRULLI, Bank heterogeneity and interest rate setting: what lessons have we learned since Lehman Brothers?, Journal of Money, Credit and Banking, v. 46, 4, pp. 753-778, TD No. 829 (October 2011).
- M. PERICOLI, *Real term structure and inflation compensation in the euro area*, International Journal of Central Banking, v. 10, 1, pp. 1-42, **TD No. 841 (January 2012).**
- E. GENNARI and G. MESSINA, How sticky are local expenditures in Italy? Assessing the relevance of the flypaper effect through municipal data, International Tax and Public Finance, v. 21, 2, pp. 324-344, TD No. 844 (January 2012).
- V. DI GACINTO, M. GOMELLINI, G. MICUCCI and M. PAGNINI, *Mapping local productivity advantages in Italy: industrial districts, cities or both?*, Journal of Economic Geography, v. 14, pp. 365–394, TD No. 850 (January 2012).
- A. ACCETTURO, F. MANARESI, S. MOCETTI and E. OLIVIERI, Don't Stand so close to me: the urban impact of immigration, Regional Science and Urban Economics, v. 45, pp. 45-56, TD No. 866 (April 2012).
- M. PORQUEDDU and F. VENDITTI, Do food commodity prices have asymmetric effects on euro area inflation, Studies in Nonlinear Dynamics and Econometrics, v. 18, 4, pp. 419-443, TD No. 878 (September 2012).
- S. FEDERICO, *Industry dynamics and competition from low-wage countries: evidence on Italy*, Oxford Bulletin of Economics and Statistics, v. 76, 3, pp. 389-410, **TD No. 879 (September 2012).**
- F. D'AMURI and G. PERI, *Immigration, jobs and employment protection: evidence from Europe before and during the Great Recession,* Journal of the European Economic Association, v. 12, 2, pp. 432-464, TD No. 886 (October 2012).
- M. TABOGA, What is a prime bank? A euribor-OIS spread perspective, International Finance, v. 17, 1, pp. 51-75, **TD No. 895 (January 2013).**
- G. CANNONE and D. FANTINO, *Evaluating the efficacy of european regional funds for R&D*, Rassegna italiana di valutazione, v. 58, pp. 165-196, **TD No. 902 (February 2013).**
- L. GAMBACORTA and F. M. SIGNORETTI, Should monetary policy lean against the wind? An analysis based on a DSGE model with banking, Journal of Economic Dynamics and Control, v. 43, pp. 146-74, **TD No. 921 (July 2013).**
- M. BARIGOZZI, CONTI A.M. and M. LUCIANI, Do euro area countries respond asymmetrically to the common monetary policy?, Oxford Bulletin of Economics and Statistics, v. 76, 5, pp. 693-714, TD No. 923 (July 2013).
- U. ALBERTAZZI and M. BOTTERO, Foreign bank lending: evidence from the global financial crisis, Journal of International Economics, v. 92, 1, pp. 22-35, TD No. 926 (July 2013).

- R. DE BONIS and A. SILVESTRINI, *The Italian financial cycle: 1861-2011*, Cliometrica, v.8, 3, pp. 301-334, **TD No. 936 (October 2013).**
- G. BARONE and S. MOCETTI, *Natural disasters, growth and institutions: a tale of two earthquakes,* Journal of Urban Economics, v. 84, pp. 52-66, **TD No. 949 (January 2014).**
- D. PIANESELLI and A. ZAGHINI, *The cost of firms' debt financing and the global financial crisis*, Finance Research Letters, v. 11, 2, pp. 74-83, **TD No. 950 (February 2014).**
- J. LI and G. ZINNA, *On bank credit risk: sytemic or bank-specific? Evidence from the US and UK*, Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis, v. 49, 5/6, pp. 1403-1442, **TD No. 951 (February 2015).**
- A. ZAGHINI, Bank bonds: size, systemic relevance and the sovereign, International Finance, v. 17, 2, pp. 161-183, **TD No. 966 (July 2014).**
- G. SBRANA and A. SILVESTRINI, *Random switching exponential smoothing and inventory forecasting,* International Journal of Production Economics, v. 156, 1, pp. 283-294, **TD No. 971 (October 2014).**
- M. SILVIA, Does issuing equity help R&D activity? Evidence from unlisted Italian high-tech manufacturing firms, Economics of Innovation and New Technology, v. 23, 8, pp. 825-854, TD No. 978 (October 2014).

2015

- M. BUGAMELLI, S. FABIANI and E. SETTE, The age of the dragon: the effect of imports from China on firmlevel prices, Journal of Money, Credit and Banking, v. 47, 6, pp. 1091-1118, TD No. 737 (January 2010).
- R. BRONZINI, The effects of extensive and intensive margins of FDI on domestic employment: microeconomic evidence from Italy, B.E. Journal of Economic Analysis & Policy, v. 15, 4, pp. 2079-2109, TD No. 769 (July 2010).
- G. BULLIGAN, M. MARCELLINO and F. VENDITTI, *Forecasting economic activity with targeted predictors,* International Journal of Forecasting, v. 31, 1, pp. 188-206, **TD No. 847 (February 2012).**
- A. CIARLONE, *House price cycles in emerging economies*, Studies in Economics and Finance, v. 32, 1, **TD No. 863 (May 2012).**
- D. FANTINO, A. MORI and D. SCALISE, Collaboration between firms and universities in Italy: the role of a firm's proximity to top-rated departments, Rivista Italiana degli economisti, v. 1, 2, pp. 219-251, TD No. 884 (October 2012).
- D. DEPALO, R. GIORDANO and E. PAPAPETROU, Public-private wage differentials in euro area countries: evidence from quantile decomposition analysis, Empirical Economics, v. 49, 3, pp. 985-1115, TD No. 907 (April 2013).
- G. BARONE and G. NARCISO, Organized crime and business subsidies: Where does the money go?, Journal of Urban Economics, v. 86, pp. 98-110, **TD No. 916 (June 2013).**
- P. ALESSANDRI and B. NELSON, *Simple banking: profitability and the yield curve,* Journal of Money, Credit and Banking, v. 47, 1, pp. 143-175, **TD No. 945 (January 2014).**
- M. TANELI and B. OHL, *Information acquisition and learning from prices over the business cycle*, Journal of Economic Theory, 158 B, pp. 585–633, **TD No. 946 (January 2014).**
- R. AABERGE and A. BRANDOLINI, *Multidimensional poverty and inequality*, in A. B. Atkinson and F. Bourguignon (eds.), Handbook of Income Distribution, Volume 2A, Amsterdam, Elsevier, TD No. 976 (October 2014).
- V. CUCINIELLO and F. M. SIGNORETTI, *Large banks,loan rate markup and monetary policy*, International Journal of Central Banking, v. 11, 3, pp. 141-177, **TD No. 987 (November 2014).**
- M. FRATZSCHER, D. RIMEC, L. SARNOB and G. ZINNA, *The scapegoat theory of exchange rates: the first tests*, Journal of Monetary Economics, v. 70, 1, pp. 1-21, **TD No. 991 (November 2014).**
- A. NOTARPIETRO and S. SIVIERO, Optimal monetary policy rules and house prices: the role of financial frictions, Journal of Money, Credit and Banking, v. 47, S1, pp. 383-410, TD No. 993 (November 2014).
- R. ANTONIETTI, R. BRONZINI and G. CAINELLI, *Inward greenfield FDI and innovation*, Economia e Politica Industriale, v. 42, 1, pp. 93-116, **TD No. 1006 (March 2015).**
- T. CESARONI, *Procyclicality of credit rating systems: how to manage it,* Journal of Economics and Business, v. 82. pp. 62-83, **TD No. 1034 (October 2015).**
- M. RIGGI and F. VENDITTI, *The time varying effect of oil price shocks on euro-area exports,* Journal of Economic Dynamics and Control, v. 59, pp. 75-94, **TD No. 1035 (October 2015).**

- G. DE BLASIO, D. FANTINO and G. PELLEGRINI, *Evaluating the impact of innovation incentives: evidence from an unexpected shortage of funds*, Industrial and Corporate Change, **TD No. 792 (February 2011).**
- A. DI CESARE, A. P. STORK and C. DE VRIES, *Risk measures for autocorrelated hedge fund returns*, Journal of Financial Econometrics, **TD No. 831 (October 2011).**
- E. BONACCORSI DI PATTI and E. SETTE, Did the securitization market freeze affect bank lending during the financial crisis? Evidence from a credit register, Journal of Financial Intermediation, TD No. 848 (February 2012).
- M. MARCELLINO, M. PORQUEDDU and F. VENDITTI, Short-Term GDP Forecasting with a mixed frequency dynamic factor model with stochastic volatility, Journal of Business & Economic Statistics, **TD No. 896 (January 2013).**
- M. ANDINI and G. DE BLASIO, *Local development that money cannot buy: Italy's Contratti di Programma,* Journal of Economic Geography, **TD No. 915 (June 2013).**
- F BRIPI, *The role of regulation on entry: evidence from the Italian provinces*, World Bank Economic Review, **TD No. 932 (September 2013).**
- G. ALBANESE, G. DE BLASIO and P. SESTITO, *My parents taught me. evidence on the family transmission of values,* Journal of Population Economics, **TD No. 955 (March 2014).**
- A. L. MANCINI, C. MONFARDINI and S. PASQUA, *Is a good example the best sermon? Children's imitation of parental reading*, Review of Economics of the Household, **TD No. 958 (April 2014).**
- R. BRONZINI and P. PISELLI, *The impact of R&D subsidies on firm innovation*, Research Policy, **TD No.** 960 (April 2014).
- L. BURLON, *Public expenditure distribution, voting, and growth,* Journal of Public Economic Theory, **TD** No. 961 (April 2014).
- L. BURLON and M. VILALTA-BUFI, A new look at technical progress and early retirement, IZA Journal of Labor Policy, **TD No. 963 (June 2014).**
- A. BRANDOLINI and E. VIVIANO, *Behind and beyond the (headcount) employment rate,* Journal of the Royal Statistical Society: Series A, **TD No. 965 (July 2015).**
- G. ZINNA, Price pressures on UK real rates: an empirical investigation, Review of Finance, TD No. 968 (July 2014).
- A. CALZA and A. ZAGHINI, Shoe-leather costs in the euro area and the foreign demand for euro banknotes, International Journal of Central Banking, **TD No. 1039 (December 2015).**